
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 
 

 

West London Economic 
Prosperity Board 

 

Agenda 
 

Monday 11 October 2021 at 11.00 am 
Online - Virtual Meeting 

 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

 
Councillor Stephen Cowan - Chair (Hammersmith & Fulham) 
Councillor Dan Thomas (Barnet) 
Councillor Muhammed Butt (Brent) 
Councillor Peter Mason (Ealing) 
Councillor Graham Henson (Harrow) 
Councillor Steve Curran (Hounslow) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: David Abbott 

Governance and Scrutiny 
 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk   

www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 
 

 
This meeting will be held remotely. Members of the public can watch the meeting on 
the H&F YouTube channel 
 
 

Date Issued: 01 October 2021 

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCppVIO6uc_QwzACVBFU0j5Q


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

West London Economic Prosperity Board 
Agenda 

 
11 October 2021 

 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   WELCOME, APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE, DECLARATIONS OF 
INTEREST  
 

 

2.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

3 - 7 

3.   WEST LONDON ECONOMIC RECOVERY - UPDATE ON BUILD & 
RECOVER PLAN DELIVERY AND ASSOCIATED WORK  
 

8 - 16 

4.   WEST LONDON INNOVATION DISTRICT CONCEPT  
 

17 - 43 

5.   WEST LONDON ORBITAL (STANDING ITEM)  
 

44 - 51 

6.   WLA ECONOMY & SKILLS PROGRAMME UPDATES  
 

52 - 56 

7.   FORWARD PLAN  
 

57 - 60 

 
 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 

 
 

 

West London Economic 
Prosperity Board 

Minutes 
 

Wednesday 26 May 2021 
 

PRESENT 
 
Members 
Councillor Stephen Cowan – Chair (Hammersmith & Fulham) 
Councillor Dan Thomas (Barnet) 
Councillor Muhammed Butt (Brent) 
Councillor Graham Henson (Harrow) 
 
Councillor Bassam Mahfouz (representing Peter Mason, Leader of Ealing Council) 
 
Other Attendees 
David Pack (West London Alliance) 
Andrew Barry-Purssell (West London Alliance) 
David Francis (West London Alliance) 
Tim McCormick (West London Alliance) 
Anthony McNamara (West London Alliance) 
Andrew Dakers (Chief Executive, West London Business) 
Bill Boler (Creative Enterprise Zone West, West London Business) 
John Hooton (Chief Executive, Barnet) 
Cath Shaw (Deputy Chief Executive, Barnet) 
Tony Clements (Strategic Director, Economy, Hammersmith & Fulham) 
Alan Lunt (Strategic Director for Regeneration, Brent) 
Niall Bolger (Chief Executive, Hounslow) 
Sarah Scannell (Planning, Hounslow) 

 
NOTE: This meeting was held as an informal remote meeting 

 
 

1. WELCOME, APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE, AND DECLARATIONS OF 
INTEREST  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Steve Curran 
(Hounslow) and Peter Mason (Ealing). 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 February 2021 were approved. 
 
 

3. WEST LONDON ECONOMIC RECOVERY - UPDATED EVIDENCE BASE, 
PROGRESS AND A PROPOSED REFRESH OF BUILD & RECOVER PLAN  
 
David Francis (Director, West London Alliance) introduced the item and gave 
a short presentation on the report. The report set out the key findings from 
updated analysis undertaken by Oxford Economics to understand the 
economic impact of the pandemic in West London, building on initial work 
produced in spring 2020 and providing updated forecasts for the sub-region’s 
economic recovery. 
 
The presentation showed that while the wider London economy had fared 
better than the UK as a whole, West London had been impacted more 
severely with a GVA drop of 10.7% - equivalent to £8.1bn or all growth since 
2013. West London was forecast to lose 48,600 jobs across 2020 and 2021. 
And while Oxford Economics expected jobs to return to previous levels by 
2023, they warned that if no action was taken, there was a risk that people 
would become less competitive in labour market and were unable to get back 
into work. 
 
The presentation also highlighted the following points of progress in delivering 
the Build and Recover plan: 

 Delivery of the Job Entry: Targeted Support scheme to help those out 
of work for more than 3 months back into employment 

 Local recruitment to mass vaccination hubs 

 Launch of an online tool to improve understanding of how skills 
provision responds to need  

 Developing of a West London ‘no wrong door’ approach to the skills 
and employment system 

 Work underway to develop a West London approach to skills 
academies, working with partners in further and higher education 

 A large-scale programme of retrofitting developed through the Green 
Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery Scheme 

 Development of a toolkit for low carbon and sustainable procurement 

 Work to scope an emissions measuring framework 
 
Councillor Thomas noted that there were jobs available in areas like retail but 
businesses were struggling to employ people and asked if there were any 
insights on that point. David Francis suggested it may be due to barriers such 
as cost of travel, confidence to change sectors or travel hesitancy around the 
pandemic. David Pack (West London Alliance) noted that the hospitality 
sector was suffering from a skills shortage which could be tackled with a 
sector skills academy approach – working with FE colleges to look at 
interventions. Councillor Thomas supported that approach. Councillor Cowan 
emphasised the need for practical solutions to get people into jobs quickly. 
 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Butt welcomed the comprehensive report. He agreed there needed 
to be a focus on supporting people into different types of employment. He 
expressed concerns around the end of the furlough scheme and said there 
needed to be systems in place to enable people to transition into new 
opportunities. 
 
Councillor Mahfouz said he wanted to focus on the unequal impact of the 
economic fallout of the pandemic. He felt it was right to focus on the green 
recovery and opportunities for young people. West London also needed to 
ensure its recovery addressed the growing inequalities in society and 
suggested there should be specific programmes for the groups worst 
affected. For example, Ealing were looking at reskilling programmes and 
employability workshops for older Asian workers at Heathrow and targeted 
approaches for young Black men in Acton. 
 
Councillor Cowan agreed and said addressing inequality had been central to 
the conversation from the beginning. The Board wanted to make sure 
everyone was lifted up – that was the mission that West London Alliance 
(WLA) had been charged with. 
 
David Francis said WLA were actively working with people on ground and had 
already supported over three thousand people back into work. Improving the 
interface between FE colleges and employers was key to this. 
 
David Pack added that a ‘no wrong door’ approach was important. There was 
a lot of support out there, but it was not always well used, joined up or easy to 
access. WLA officers and partners would be working up a West London ‘no 
wrong door’ approach over the summer as more funding became available. 
 
Councillor Cowan noted the West London Economic Recovery Taskforce was 
also in place to bring together key stakeholders – big corporates, local 
government, the NHS, and more to improve links and open up more 
opportunities for local people. 
 
Councillor Henson thanked officers for the report. He noted that the 
recruitment partnerships set up with the NHS for the Covid-19 response had 
shown the way with very positive outcomes. He raised concerns about the 
large number of smaller businesses and independent shops that had been 
significantly affected by the pandemic. He also suggested linking with the 
DWP to get them to signpost people to the work West London Alliance was 
doing.  
 
RESOLVED 
That the Board: 

1. Noted and commented on the actual and forecast economic impact of 
the pandemic on West London. 

2. Considered and agreed the proposal to refresh the sub-regional areas 
of focus under the overall Build and Recover plan for economic 
recovery. 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

3. Noted work underway to develop a strategy to make West London’s 
case to government and to broaden business engagement in the West 
London Economic Recovery Taskforce. 

 
 

4. WEST LONDON SCREEN INDUSTRIES OPPORTUNITY  
 
David Francis (Director, West London Alliance) introduced the item noting 
that the film and screen industries had an established and growing presence 
in West London and were one of the sub-region’s key growth sectors, 
currently employing an estimated 100,000 people both directly and through 
supply chains. 
 
Work was being undertaken by the WLA and West London Business, working 
with the GLA, London & Partners, the Department for International Trade, and 
the industry itself, to better understand the sector’s two key constraints – 
suitable space and a pipeline of skilled workers – and develop actions as part 
of supporting West London’s economic recovery. 
 
Bill Boler (Creative Enterprise Zone West / West London Business) gave a 
presentation on the proposals. He highlighted the opportunities created by the 
rising demand for content from both traditional media and the new streaming 
services. West London was an important film and television cluster and all 
boroughs benefited from the work. 
 
The areas of focus were: 

 Develop skills locally 

 Increase studio space 

 Promote networking and innovation 

 Promote sustainability 
 
Councillor Butt noted that he had recently visited Garden Studios in 
Harlesden and was incredibly impressed with the amount of space put back 
into use. He was working to get apprenticeships in place and employment 
opportunities. He felt West London could be the premier hub for film and TV; 
there was a vast opportunity for local residents and a need to bring the 
various elements of that together. 
 
Councillor Henson suggested the West London Councils could have a 
common approach or offer to film and tv to simplify the process for film 
companies. Bill Boler agreed there were areas for a collective approach. 
Regeneration teams were working together in some areas. He said political 
support for the approach to skills would be useful. 
 
Councillor Thomas emphasised the need for strong relationships between 
local arts colleges and studios. When people graduate there should be 
placements and apprenticeships available. Bill Boler said he was making 
progress in making connections between colleges, universities and 
businesses. 
 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Cowan suggested WLA look at ways to provide affordable, flexible 
studio space and land for the film industry. There was also a role in 
connecting schools with businesses – creating opportunities for networking 
(formal and informal). Councillor Cowan requested a paper on options on 
what local authorities could realistically do to help improve the availability of 
space for the sector, including making it easier to film and setting land aside 
for studio space. 
 

ACTION: David Francis 
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the Board noted and commented on the work underway to 
address two key constraints to the growth of the screen industries in 
West London and the proposed actions and interventions in 
development. 

 
 

 
Meeting started: 2.30 pm 
Meeting ended: 3.30 pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: David Abbott 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 E-mail: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 7

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk


 

 

Summary 

This report updates the Board on work at the sub-regional level to support West London’s 
economic recovery, specifically outlining our latest understanding of the headline economic 
impacts on West London and progress in delivering the agreed Build & Recovery plan 
since this Board last met in June 2021. 
 
It also updates this Board on work to articulate West London’s case to government in 
respect of both the sub-region’s specific economic challenges and of the opportunities for 
West London to drive recovery in the UK more widely.  
 
A summary is also provided of collaborations between key business leaders across West 
London to contribute to and support the sub-region’s economic recovery  

 

Recommendations  

 

West London Economic Prosperity 
Board 

 

11 October 2021 

Title  

 
West London economic recovery – update 
on Build & Recover plan delivery and 
associated work 
 

Report of 

 
Niall Bolger, Chief Executive, LB Hounslow 
 
David Francis – Director, West London Alliance  
 

Status Public 

Sponsor 
Cllr Stephen Cowan, Leader, LB Hammersmith & Fulham and 
Chair, West London Economic Prosperity Board 

Urgent No 

Enclosures                          N/A 

Officer Contact Details  

 
David Pack, Head of Economy & Skills, West London Alliance 
(packd@ealing.gov.uk) 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3

mailto:packd@ealing.gov.uk


Leaders are asked to: 

 Note and comment on the progress in delivering activity under the West 
London Build & Recover plan.  
 

 Note work underway to make West London’s case to government and to 
engage businesses in West London’s economic recovery 

 

 
1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  

 
1.1 At its last meeting this Board agreed a refocusing of the Build & Recover plan 

initially published in September 2020, to take account of the changed 
landscape informed by commissioned analysis by Oxford Economics, the re-
opening of the economy after a succession of lockdowns and developments in 
the wider policy landscape, including central government’s emerging 
approach to ‘levelling up’ and London government’s approach to a London-
wide framework for addressing economic recovery. 
 

1.2 This report updates the Board on our latest understanding of the extent of the 
economic impact on West London specifically, particularly on employment as 
the furlough scheme ends. It also presents an overview of activity at the sub-
regional level to address both the short-term economic impacts of the 
pandemic – notably on employment and skills – and longer-term activity to 
position West London to return to growth and play its full part in supporting 
economic recovery across the UK. 
 

1.3 The report also outlines how we are making the case for economic recovery in 
West London. This includes work with key business leaders to galvanise 
support and taking forward business-led workstreams aligned to our Build and 
Recover Plan. It also includes  influencing national government's approach to 
supporting economic recovery in the sub-region.  
 

2. SPECIFIC IMPACTS ON EMPLOYMENT AND UNEMPLOYMENT 
 
2.1 As reported to this Board in May, updated projections from Oxford Economics 

pointed to the severity of the economic impact of the pandemic on West 
London: GVA contracted by 10.7% in 2020 - a drop of ca £8.1bn, offsetting 
cumulative growth since 2013 worse than the UK (10%) or London (9.4%). 
Workplace employment was also projected to reduce by 4.3% (48,600 jobs) 
across 2020 and 2021. 
 

2.2 Already significantly adversely impacted by the impact of the pandemic, 
various indicators suggest that West London’s labour market will continue to 
be hit hard as the furlough scheme comes to an end: 

 

 The out of work benefit claimant count was 2.5 times higher in Aug ’21 
than Mar ’20, at approx. 100,000 people, an increase of approx. 60,000 
people and a markedly larger proportional increase than most other parts 
of the UK.  

Page 9



 
 Recently published experimental data from the ONS suggests that a 

number of West London boroughs are among those with the greatest falls 
in employment since 2019. 

 

 The most recent data (as at end July 2021) shows 9.3% of eligible jobs 
(85k/916K) were furloughed; Rates in all West London boroughs are 
higher than the national rate of 6% and five of seven boroughs are among 
the ten areas with highest rates nationally – alongside three other aviation 
communities. (Newham, Crawley, Slough).  
 

 Unemployment is also forecast to hit West London especially hard as 
furlough ends: women, 16-24 and 35-49, and those 50+ will be particularly 
affected.2 

 

3. BUILD AND RECOVER PLAN: PROGRESS IN ADDRESSING THE 
IMMEDIATE EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS CHALLENGE 

 
3.1 Since this Board last met in May 2021 progress has been made in various 

elements of activity to address the employment and skills challenges facing 
West London, all of which complements and adds to the considerable activity 
underway at borough- level and has been developed in collaboration with your 
officers: 

    
• Extension to Job Entry:Targeted Support (JETS) programme – We 

have secured a 12-month extension to the JETS programme, part of our 
DWP-funded devolved employment support, delivered by The Shaw 
Trust. This will provide support for an additional 8,500 people out of work 
for more than three months in the year to October 2022. 
 

• Mayor’s Sectoral Academies – We are actively engaged in three bids 
for funding under the Mayor’s Sectoral Academies programme. Focusing 
on the sectors of health, the green economy and film/screen, each bid is 
for £250,000 over two years and brings together employers, local 
authorities, employment support and skills providers and other key 
stakeholders to provideimproved co-ordination across the system with a 
goal of increasing the responsiveness of skills provision to employer need 
and  with improved into work outcomes for  disadvantaged groups and 
those most affected by the pandemic. Additional funding is available for 
skills providers under each bid to incentivise transitions from training into 
work. 
 

• Green skills / jobs research – Working with other sub-regional 
partnerships we have commissioned research to help build a firm 
understanding of jobs that make up the green economy now, how the 
labour market might change over time and the skills required for our 
communities to access these jobs. 
 

Page 10



• No Wrong Door: improving access to and co-ordination of support – 
Underpinning much of the work above we are developing a sub-regional 
approach to a ‘No Wrong’ Door’ to the skills and employment support 
systems to improve access for our residents and provide better navigation 
of the support available. GLA funding of ca. £100,000 per sub-region has 
been identified to commence this work and trial approaches to test what 
works and help make a case for further investment at scale to deliver 
better results, including from government-funded programmes. 

 
• Ongoing partnership with the NHS as an anchor institution – Building 

on the collaboration to recruit to mass vaccination centres and pilot 
approaches to simplifying access to entry-level NHS vacancies we are 
exploring how best to expand our work as part of the wider approach 
across the North-West London Health & Care System to developing an 
anchor institution strategy, including building on any successful bid for 
Secoral Academy funding.  

 
4. BUILD AND RECOVER PLAN: LOOKING TO LONGER TERM RECOVERY 

AND GROWTH  
 
4.1 Work has also progressed on various other strands of work under the Build & 

Recover Plan focused on putting in place the longer-term building blocks for 
West London’s economic recovery which can also support government’s 
levelling up agenda: 

  
• West London Orbital - Key strands of work to progress this significant 

strategic infrastructure project have included in-depth work on 
development viability, funding and stakeholder engagement. Further detail 
on this is provided in a separate report on today’s agenda. 
 

• Infrastructure  

 
• Digital – A procurement process is due to commence shortly to 

select a supplier to install new fibre connections to public buildings 
across West London, delivering substantially improved digital 
infrastructure and connectivity.  
 

• Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan - A major study covering West 
London’s strategic infrastructure needs to the 2040s is now being 
finalised for publication. Covering transport, energy, water, digital 
and social infrastructure needs, the plan will inform boroughs’ Local 
Plan development. Next steps in terms of future sub-regional work 
on strategic infrastructure planning, funding and implementation will 
be considered in due course.  

 
• Town centres – A study is being commissioning at the sub-regional level 

to examine trends and developments affecting commercial, business and 

service uses in town centres, to support and inform activity underway at 

the borough-level to support local town centres. 

Page 11



  

• Green recovery – led by the West London Environment Directors’ Board, 

this strand of activity is cross-cutting in nature and has refocused following 

consideration by this board in May to focus on three key themes:  

• Green infrastructure (Buildings & Energy, Transport, Investible 

Propositions) 

• Net zero communities (Net-Zero Lifestyle, Net-Zero 

Neighbourhoods, Inequality/Poverty) 

• Green economy (Innovation; Skills) 

5. MAKING THE CASE FOR WEST LONDON 
 
5.1 Since this Board last met the West London Leaders’ Board agreed the broad 

focus for work to make West London’s case to government should centre on 
four key themes:  
 

 Cost of unemployment and long-term scarring 

 Growth sectors and innovation 

 Heathrow and Global Britain 

 Infrastructure and the West London Orbital  

 
5.2 Working within these agreed themes, we are focusing on developing an 

evidenced West London proposition to government to underline the central 
role the sub-region can play – with the right support - in driving economic 
recovery and prosperity across the wider UK and the specific challenges we 
face which require focused attention in the immediate term to support 
recovery across West London. 
 

5.3 There are various concurrent activities underway to support development of 
our case: 

 

 Refining our proposition 
 

o Officers are working with officials across various government 
departments to understand how best to hone our proposition, including 
at Director General level at MHCLG with a focus on the economic 
impact of the pandemic on aviation communities and the importance of 
the sub-region to the Government’s national economic recovery and 
levelling up aims. 
 

 Highlighting the specific challenges facing aviation communities 
 

o Officers continue to engage at senior level via DfT’s Airport Economic 
Impacts Group to inform government’s approach to the specific 
circumstances facing airport-dependent communities nationally. 

 

 Engaging with London government 
 

Page 12



o WLA officers and boroughs’ Economy & Skills Directors have also fed 
into the development of the London Economic Recovery Framework 
approved by the London Recovery Board in July and to be published 
shortly, ensuring West London’s opportunities and challenges are 
reflected appropriately. As we move into the autumn, we need to 
consider how to use this framework alongside work to deliver the Build 
& Recover plan’s aspirations and our wider engagement with partners 
on that.  
 

o Drawing on a London position statement and accompanying data1 on 
levelling up agreed by the London Recovery Board in July, we are also 
formulating a West London statement to mirror that to help frame how 
best to articulate West London’s position as part of the wider London 
narrative.  
 

 Engaging with business 
 

o There has been increased engagement of key West London-based 

corporates following an initial meeting of senior business leaders 

chaired by John Holland-Kaye, CEO of Heathrow, in late June and a 

second session in September. Arising from discussions at the West 

London Economic Recovery Taskforce on the need to work with 

businesses to strengthen West London’s economic recovery and make 

our case to government, this group is convened by West London 

Business with input from WLA officers. 

  

o Business-led sub-groups focused on specific emerging workstreams – 

each involving a WLA or borough officer lead - have since each 

identified priorities for collaborative business-led action across the 

themes of:  

 Skills;  

 Business growth and innovation;  

 Strengthening sense of place and identity;  

 Net zero (Security of energy supply chain and carbon reduction). 

 Infrastructure – Transport/ mobility 

 

 Engaging with central government 
 

o Leaders will meet with the Minister for London in October to discuss 
the West London’s position and how we can work with government to 
capitalise on the opportunities in the sub-region and address the 
challenges arising from the impact of the pandemic.  
 

                                                           
1
 Levelling up | London City Hall 

Page 13

https://www.london.gov.uk/coronavirus/londons-recovery-coronavirus-crisis/recovery-context/levelling


o Ongoing engagement with local parliamentarians continues through the 
West London Cross Party Group of MPs convened by West London 
Business.  

 

o Key points building on the agreed focus of West London’s case to 
government were also submitted as part of the consultation process 
leading up to the Comprehensive Spending Review.  

 
6. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
6.1 Our updated understanding of the economic impact of the pandemic on West 

London underlines the ongoing need for action to mitigate this impact on our 
communities. Continuation of interventions within our gift under the Build & 
Recover Plan remains important as do co-ordination within a London-wide 
framework and articulation of our opportunities and challenges to government.  
 

7. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 
 

7.1 As considered by this Board when the outline sub-regional approach to 
economic recovery was proposed in September 2020, the possibility of relying 
on national, London-level and local responses to economic recovery is an 
option. However, this is not recommended as it would risk failing to address 
those economic challenges experienced at the sub-regional level and which 
can be most effectively addressed by collaboration at that geography. 
 

8. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 
 

8.1 Subject to Leaders’ approval of the approach outlined above, next steps are 
to: 

 

 Continue sub-regional activity as set out in the Build & Recover plan 
(and its refresh as agreed by this Board in May 2021). 
 

 Build on and expand our approach to influencing government and other 
stakeholders to make a robust case for enabling West London’s 
economic recovery.   

 

 Develop the increased business engagement through the corporate 
leaders’ group to support West London’s economic recovery. 

 
9. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION  

 
9.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance 

 
 This report relates directly to the development of the agreed West London 

Build & Recover economic recovery strategy.   
 

9.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, 
Property, Sustainability) 
 

Page 14



 Work undertaken to date has been through existing, funded officer time, both 
within the core West London Alliance team and with relevant officers in West 
London authorities. Any proposals relating to funding of related work in the 
future will be presented on a case by case basis. 
 

9.3 Social Value  
 

 Social and economic inclusion is a cross-cutting theme woven into the 
development of the various themes of the Build and Recover plan and many 
of its aims directly address economic and social benefits to West London’s 
communities.  
 

9.4 Legal and Constitutional References 
 

 This work falls within the following sections of the WLEPB’s Functions and 
Procedure Rules:  
 

 Representing the participating local authorities in discussions and 
negotiations with regional bodies, national bodies and central 
government on matters relating to economic prosperity for the benefit of 
the local government areas of the participating authorities.  

 Representing the participating authorities in connection with the Greater 
London Authority, London Councils and the London Enterprise Panel, for 
the benefit of the local government areas of the participating authorities, 
in matters relating to the economic prosperity agenda. 

 Representing the participating local authorities in discussions and 
negotiations in relation to pan-London matters relating to economic 
prosperity.  
 

 The Joint Committee’s role and purpose on behalf of the Participating 
Boroughs relates to ensuring appropriate, effective and formal governance is 
in place for the purposes of delivering the West London Vision for Growth and 
advancing Participating Boroughs’ aspirations for greater economic prosperity 
in West London, including promoting “the Economic Prosperity Agenda”, in 
partnership with employers, representatives from regional and central 
government, and education and skills providers.  
 

 The purpose of the Joint Committee will be collaboration and mutual co-
operation and the fact that some functions will be discharged jointly by way of 
the Joint Committee does not prohibit any of the Participating Boroughs from 
promoting economic wellbeing in their own areas independently from the Joint 
Committee. The Joint Committee is not a self-standing legal entity but is part 
of its constituent authorities. Any legal commitment entered into pursuant of a 
decision of the Joint Committee must be made by all of the Participating 
Boroughs. 

 
9.5 Risk Management 

 
 This report will support the West London Economic Prosperity Board to 

oversee successful delivery of the Build and Recover plan and its aims. 

Page 15



 
9.6 Equalities and Diversity  

 
 The ongoing focus of addressing economic recovery at the sub-regional level 

through the Build and Recover Plan will assist in promoting equalities and 
diversity across the sub-region. The plan has a central focus on ensuring that 
West London’s economic recovery is inclusive, benefiting those most 
impacted by the economic impact of the pandemic.  
 

9.7 Consultation and Engagement 
 

9.8 The Build and Recover plan and the approach to making the case to 
government for supporting economic recovery in West London complements 
boroughs’ work at the individual borough level and has been developed in 
consultation with boroughs’ Economy & Skills Directors. Input has also been 
sought from the West London Economic Recovery Taskforce and the group of 
senior corporate leaders mentioned above.  

 
10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
N/A 

Page 16



1 
 

 

 

 

Summary 

This report presents work to begin to establish a deeper understanding of the various 
clusters of innovation across West London, a central part of the Growth Sectors strand of 
the Build & Recover Plan.  
 
It specifically presents the current picture of government investment in innovation across 
West London and initial analysis to understand the impact this can have on supporting 
economies in the UK more widely.  
 
It is proposed that, by developing this analysis further, we can inform how best to argue the 
case to government for supporting innovation in West London in the context of levelling up 
and securing a ‘fair share’ of government investment for the sub-region. 
 
The report also outlines – for further refinement – a potential specific strand of work to 
support ‘green innovation’. 
 

  

 

West London Economic Prosperity 
Board 

 

11 October 2021 
 

Title  West London Innovation District concept 

Report of 
 
David Francis – Director, West London Alliance  
 

Status Public 

Sponsor 
Cllr Stephen Cowan, Leader, LB Hammersmith & Fulham and 
Chair, West London Economic Prosperity Board 

Urgent No 

Enclosures                          
Annex One – West London Innovation District landscape and 
funding mapping 

Officer Contact Details  

 
David Pack, Head of Economy & Skills, WLA 
(packd@ealing.gov.uk) 
Fin Kelly, Strategic Lead – Digital & Smart Cities, WLA 
(fin.kelly@ealing.gov.uk) 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4

mailto:packd@ealing.gov.uk


2 
 

 

Recommendations  

Leaders are asked to: 
 

1. Note the mapping work undertaken to better understand the innovation landscape 
across West London and suggested analysis to develop this further.  
 

2. Note the initial analysis undertaken to understand innovation investment in West 
London and how that can benefit other parts of the UK. 
 

3. Note the potential to explore how best to support and enable green innovation 
across West London. 

 

 
1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  

 
1.1 A central part of the agreed West London Build & Recover plan for economic 

recovery is the focus on growth sectors, including exploration of the concept 
of a ‘West London Innovation District’ previously presented to this Board. 
 

1.2 As a key part of the approved focus of how we make a case for West London 
to government, it is important to increase our understanding of the value and 
benefit of supporting innovation across our boroughs, including how any 
support from government drives growth and recovery not only in West London 
itself, but also across the UK more widely - supporting government’s aims for 
levelling-up and national economic recovery.  
 

1.3 This report and the slides at Annex One to be presented at the meeting set 
out at headline level the innovation landscape in West London and our 
understanding of government innovation investment in recent years in the 
sub-region. This initial analysis, to be developed further, will help to inform 
how we make a case for future investment and enhance the sub-region’s 
ability to generate future jobs and growth both here and across the country as 
a whole. 
 

1.4 The report also outlines for further exploration the potential to develop a 
specific focus on green innovation in West London, aligning with the 
aspirations set out in the Build & Recover plan to enable a green recovery.  

 
2. UNDERSTANDING WEST LONDON’S INNOVATION LANDSCAPE 

 
2.1 The slides at Annex One show on a map the key elements of West London’s 

innovation landscape including actors such as higher education institutions, 
anchor businesses, accelerators and transport connectivity (including the 
proposed route of the West London Orbital) 
 

2.2 Existing and emerging concentrations of innovation are also mapped at Annex 
One, as previously reported to this Board, including:  
 

 White City: Imperial College London and Blenheim Chalcot have opened 
Scale Space in White City, a 200 sq. ft innovation hub for high growth 

Page 18



3 
 

 

businesses looking to scale and work has commenced on a further 1m sq. 
ft of office space in White City for the growth sectors.  
 

 Old Oak and Park Royal: The Old Oak and Park Royal Development 
Corporation is developing a 5G testbed strategy looking at how 5G can be 
tested and commercially deployed in range of sectors represented in the 
Park Royal area to solve business problems and drive up productivity.  

 

 Heathrow: West London Business - with financial support from the 
London Borough of Hounslow and other partners - are developing the 
concept of a London West Innovation District to drive growth and create 
jobs in the sector. Two strategic drivers have been identified that will 
shape the future of transport and the economy surrounding Heathrow – 
green growth and the impact of digital and virtual technologies. 

 

 Golden Mile: The Great West Creatives Enterprise Zone is being 
delivered by a consortium made up of:  University of West London, West 
Thames College, London Borough of Hounslow, SME representatives, 
Sky, Watermans Arts Centre, Hounslow and Brentford Chambers of 
Commerce, and West London Business. 

 
2.3 To better understand how to support the agglomeration of innovation sectors 

in West London, build on the assets we already have – and then ensure that 
firms/institutions derive the maximum benefits from that agglomeration – there 
could be merit to additional analysis.  
 

2.4 Such analysis could take account of various aspects of ‘agglomeration 
economies’ including economies of scale arising either from a firm’s proximity 
to the overall economic mass of an area, or those arising from a firm’s 
proximity to others within the same industry. Analysis of this type could also 
help avoid any assumptions about how existing ‘innovation assets’ in West 
London inter-relate with each other. 
 

2.5 It could also help to identify existing or potential market failures to tackle – 
such as problems of co-ordination of public goods (e.g. potential inadequate 
electricity supply in some parts of the sub-region) or indeed where 
encouragement of networks between firms and institutions could be beneficial 
– including, for example, with potential funders and procurers in both the 
public and private sectors. 
 

3. FUNDING INNOVATION IN WEST LONDON 
 

3.1 The slides at Annex One also examine government innovation investment in 
West London in recent years, comprising some £72m since 2017 in 436 
projects, leveraging £30m in private sector match funding. Two specific case 
studies are also provided underlining how examples of this funding support 
innovation and growth across various UK regions.  
 

Page 19



4 
 

 

3.2 There is a risk that government attention on innovation funding refocuses on 
areas outside of London against the backdrop of the levelling up agenda. In 
this context it is therefore important to develop our understanding of the 
impact of government investment in innovation both within and beyond West 
London to help strengthen the case for West London in conversations with 
government as outlined in a separate paper on today’s agenda.   

 

4. WORKING WITH OUR PARTNERS 

 

4.1 There are many thriving collaborations which will support and amplify West 

London’s focus on innovation, bringing in business, higher education and the 

digital connectivity agenda. 

 

4.2 Through the group of Vice-Chancellors of universities with a footprint in West 

London convened by West London Business with support from the WLA there 

is an established cross-institution working group focused on growth and 

innovation. This group focuses on acting as a catalyst to bring together 

existing businesses, start-ups, local authorities, charities and innovation 

specialists to generate economic growth and employment through innovation. 

Specific attention is given to improving the productivity, competitiveness and 

sustainability of existing businesses, driving energy efficiency, environmental 

responsibility and innovation. The role of business organisations is especially 

important as much innovation funding requires a collaborative approach. 

 

4.3 Innovation also features as part of the focus of the group of corporate leaders 

brought together by West London Business and chaired by John Holland-

Kaye, CEO of Heathrow, arising from discussions at the West London 

Economic Recovery Taskforce on the need to engage business in efforts to 

address economic recovery. A working group focused on business growth and 

innovation is shaping a role for key West London corporates in supporting 

ambitious businesses with high growth potential in knowledge-based sectors 

to reach their potential, with an initial likely emphasis on go-to-market support, 

to be explored further during the autumn.  

 

4.4 Work led by West London boroughs at individual borough level and sub-

regionally to deliver state-of-the-art digital connectivity is also a key enabler of 

growth and can underpin the development of innovation. Through 

collaborating with the private sector to significantly accelerate network 

deployments in West London, key workstreams include: 

 

 Digital Strategy and Master Wayleaves: West London boroughs have 
put in place arrangements to make it easy for fibre companies to invest 
at scale into West London.   

Page 20



5 
 

 

 Fibre West: Delivery of c£8m of new fibre connections to public 
buildings working in close partnership with the GLA Connected London 
Team and Transport for London. 

 Expanding Opportunities for All: Deliver accelerated deployment of new 
wireless networks to support homeworking, public service delivery, 
address inequalities and boost resilience.  

 

4.5 Through work overseen by the West London Skills & Employment Board and 

supported by skills providers across the sub-region, there is also a link to be 

made between innovation and skills and employment opportunities, 

particularly the role of growth sectors and reskilling our communities for the 

jobs of the future. 

 
5. GREEN INNOVATION – AN AREA FOR FURTHER EXPLORATION 

 

5.1 In support of the stated aim in the Build & Recover plan to secure a green 

recovery for West London’s economy, there is a rationale to exploring how 

best we can champion and enable ‘green innovation’ in West London as a 

distinct strand of work. 

 

5.2 Initial officer exploration of possible priority sectors, in consultation with 

subject experts in West London’s higher education community, suggests the 

following are sectors with considerable potential: 

 

 Retrofitting property and infrastructure  

 Decarbonisation of last mile deliveries  

 Enabling a Circular Economy  
 

5.3 Some of the benefits of a focus on green innovation specifically include: 

 

 Social value benefits: supporting green innovation could align with 

boroughs’ focus on creating new employment opportunities in the 

green economy and rolling out technologies to address pressing health 

and social issues such as cutting air pollution and ending fuel poverty.  

 

• Presence of key innovation anchors: West London is home to a 
network of innovation anchors with an interest in innovation directly 
related to climate change – in addition to local authorities themselves - 
including major universities, housing associations, venture capital 
backed accelerators, the West London Waste Authority and, corporates 
championing zero carbon in their supply chain.  
 

Page 21



6 
 

 

 Value of the green economy: By one measure the ‘green economy’ 

was worth around £48 bn to the overall London economy in 2019/20, 

supporting some 320,000 jobs1.  

 

5.4 Officers would need to explore further the local authority role at the sub-

regional level in any focus on green innovation which could include e.g. 

sharing of expertise on regulatory and procurement issues with green 

innovators, exploration of access to relevant data and to buildings and 

physical assets, facilitating links to residents and communities on climate 

change issues. 

 

5.5 Initial mapping of some of the key sources of funding related to green 

innovation is provided for information at Appendix One.  

 

6. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

6.1 The need to better understand the innovation landscape and especially 
funding related to it and the impact that has on economic recovery and growth 
within and beyond West London will be important in reinforcing West 
London’s case to government for collaboration to drive our economic 
recovery. Exploring specific avenues such as green innovation can also 
support this. 
 

7. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 
 

7.1 By considering the overall picture of innovation at the sub-regional level in 
West London in addition to any practical borough-level activity underway, we 
will be able to better articulate the value of investing in that innovation and 
better positioned to share good practice across the sub-region more 
effectively.   
 

8. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 
 

8.1 Subject to input from Members at this meeting officers will proceed to scope 
the work to understand the innovation landscape in West London, the value 
and impact of investing in it and the potential to develop a specific focus on 
green innovation.  
 

9. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION  
 

9.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance 
 

 This report relates directly to the delivery of the agreed West London Build & 
Recover economic recovery strategy.   
 

                                                           
1
 London’s Low Carbon and Environmental Goods and Services Sector - Interim Report, Nov 2020, GLA 

Page 22

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/lcegs-2019-20_update-final-final-181120.pdf


7 
 

 

9.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, 
Property, Sustainability) 
 

 It is anticipated that development work related to the developing focus on 
innovation in West London will be undertaken by existing, funded officer time, 
both within the core West London Alliance team and with relevant officers in 
West London authorities. 
 

9.3 Social Value  
 

 There is continued scope to link a focus on innovation at the West London 
level to other elements of the Build & Recover plan addressing social and 
economic inclusion more directly, including work to support reskilling and 
upskilling among those communities most affected by the economic impact of 
the pandemic and to the aspirations for a green recovery. 
 

9.4 Legal and Constitutional References 
 

 This work falls within the following sections of the WLEPB’s Functions and 
Procedure Rules:  
 

 Representing the participating local authorities in discussions and 
negotiations with regional bodies, national bodies and central 
government on matters relating to economic prosperity for the benefit of 
the local government areas of the participating authorities.  

 Representing the participating authorities in connection with the Greater 
London Authority, London Councils and the London Enterprise Panel, for 
the benefit of the local government areas of the participating authorities, 
in matters relating to the economic prosperity agenda. 

 Representing the participating local authorities in discussions and 
negotiations in relation to pan-London matters relating to economic 
prosperity.  
 

 The Joint Committee’s role and purpose on behalf of the Participating 
Boroughs relates to ensuring appropriate, effective and formal governance is 
in place for the purposes of delivering the West London Vision for Growth and 
advancing Participating Boroughs’ aspirations for greater economic prosperity 
in West London, including promoting “the Economic Prosperity Agenda”, in 
partnership with employers, representatives from regional and central 
government, and education and skills providers.  
 

 The purpose of the Joint Committee will be collaboration and mutual 
cooperation and the fact that some functions will be discharged jointly by way 
of the Joint Committee does not prohibit any of the Participating Boroughs 
from promoting economic wellbeing in their own areas independently from the 
Joint Committee. The Joint Committee is not a self-standing legal entity but is 
part of its constituent authorities. Any legal commitment entered into pursuant 
of a decision of the Joint Committee must be made by all of the Participating 
Boroughs. 

 

Page 23



8 
 

 

9.5 Risk Management 
 

 This report will support the West London Economic Prosperity Board to 
understand proposed approaches to supporting growth sectors and longer 
term job creation across West London as part of our vision to deliver 
economic recovery. 
 

9.6 Equalities and Diversity  
 

 Work to develop a focus on innovation at the West London level provides an 
important opportunity for long term job creation and, with that, the potential to 
ensure routes into those jobs for diverse communities, and accompanying 
skills provision to enable that. 
 

9.7 Consultation and Engagement 
 

9.8 While there have been elements of engagement with key external 
stakeholders in developing the initial thinking on a West London Innovation 
District, extensive engagement is planned as part of the proposed next steps. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 24



9 
 

 

APPENDIX ONE  

Funding opportunities to support ‘green innovation’ 
in West London September 2021 

 
Green innovation appears high on the government’s agenda, with many interlinking 
funding opportunities in business innovation and the development of more 
sustainable and low-carbon aspects of the economy.  
 
Funding opportunities appear to focus in particular on: 
 

 Green energy, particularly innovation to help the government meet its 
commitments to supporting electric vehicles and the cessation of new petrol 
car sales in 2025 

o e.g. £60m funding commitment from government in May 2021 to fund 
low-carbon hydrogen development 

 

 Innovation in the built environment and green spaces, and improving their 
resilience to climate change 

o e.g. the GLA’s Green and Resilient Spaces Fund 
 

 Waste, both recycling, and reducing the need for waste in the first place 
o e.g. £8m cash injection for businesses to develop new techniques that 

repurpose materials, avoid waste or include recycling in their 
processes. 

 
The predominant funding sources appear to be the already well-established sources 
of funding in this area, particularly government departments and arms-length 
organisations, such as: 
 

 Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 

 Innovate UK 

 GLA. 
 
The funding mainly targets businesses, especially those able to conduct R&D either 
alone or in collaboration with partners. There seems to be less emphasis on local 
authority involvement, given the prioritisation of R&D, but HEIs and other institutions 
are encouraged to participate. 
 
It seems likely that further funding will become available in the areas of: 

 Low-carbon transport (e.g. hydrogen development, green energy networks) 

 Heat generation and retention (e.g. retrofitting homes, low-carbon heat 
networks) 

 Technology-based ‘green innovation’, such as carbon capture and storage 
technologies, and greenhouse gas removal methods. 

 
Given West London has the presence of Heathrow, a well-connected network of 
SMEs, and advanced capability in digital development, the funding opportunities and 
future priorities seem well-aligned any West London focus on green innovation.  
 

Page 25

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/parks-green-spaces-and-biodiversity/green-and-resilient-spaces-fund


10 
 

 

 
A selection of the larger funding opportunities which may be of particular relevance 
to West London is noted in more detail below. 
 
Strategic Innovation Fund (SIF) 

 £450m, funded jointly by Ofgem and Innovate UK 

 Opened 31st August, closes 17th November 
 
An opportunity for innovative businesses and academics to work with energy 
networks on the transition to ‘net zero’, especially on projects that will deliver benefits 
to consumers. On 31 August the funding opportunity for the first four ‘challenges’ 
opened: 

1. whole system integration 

2. data and digitalisation 

3. heat 

4. zero emission transport. 

 
The data & digitalisation and transport themes may be of particular interest for West 
London. 
 
Industrial Energy Transformation Fund 

 £16.5m, funded by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy 

 Phase 1 closed July 2021, Phase 2 opening later this year 
 
A fund to develop new technologies and processes that help energy-intensive 
sectors cut their emissions, while reducing their energy bills. Projects receiving 
funding include Tate & Lyle to decarbonise its London sugar refinery and cut 
emissions by up to 90%, and Celsa Manufacturing to install new technologies that 
improve energy efficiencies in the process to melt scrap metal and produce steel. 
Phase 2 will expand the scope of the fund to include deployment of decarbonisation 
technologies. 
 
This fund could be valuable across West London, and in concentrations of industrial 
activity such as Park Royal in particular. 
 
Innovate UK Smart Grants 

 £25m, funded by Innovate UK 

 Current phase closes 6th October, future phases to follow 
 
Smart is Innovate UK’s ‘open grant funding’ programme. This fund is investing up to 
£25 million in the best game-changing and commercially viable innovative ideas. All 
proposals must be business focused. Applications can come from any area of 
technology and be applied to any part of the economy, such as: 
 

 the arts, design and media 
 creative industries 
 science or engineering 

Page 26

https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/energy-policy-and-regulation/policy-and-regulatory-programmes/network-price-controls-2021-2028-riio-2/network-price-controls-2021-2028-riio-2-riio-2-network-innovation-funding/strategic-innovation-fund-sif
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/industrial-energy-transformation-fund
https://apply-for-innovation-funding.service.gov.uk/competition/963/overview#summary


11 
 

 

 
 
Green Heat Network Fund 

 £270m, funded by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy 

 Will open for applications in April 2022 and is anticipated to run to 2025 
 
A capital grant programme that aims to stimulate the growth of low-carbon heat 
networks, supporting only low-carbon technologies such as heat pumps, solar and 
geothermal energy. Heat networks have the potential to be a cost-effective way of 
reducing carbon emissions from heating. They are the only way that larger-scale 
renewable and recovered heat sources - such as from the London Underground – 
can be utilised. 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 27

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/next-generation-of-heat-networks-to-power-uks-green-revolution


West London Innovation District 
Landscape and Funding Mapping 

October 2021 

P
age 28



Overview of West London innovation landscape

• West London is home to a range of major ‘innovation assets’: 

• a thriving higher education sector; 

• a number of significant accelerators;

• various Opportunity Areas

• Each of the various existing and emerging ‘innovation 

districts’ have distinct emerging local ecosystems (Appendix 

One), mapping neatly to some of the sub-region’s Opportunity 

Areas.

• But they sit within a wider a wider landscape, including 

central London and the Heathrow/Thames Valley corridor.

Universities and key 
accelerators

P
age 29



Supported by anchor businesses and transport connectivity

• This landscape is enhanced by the 

presence of many anchor businesses 

across various sectors.

• Major developments in transport 

infrastructure – the Elizabeth Line, HS2 

and the West London Orbital – are set to 

enhance connectivity between these 

clusters of innovation – and others further 

afield.P
age 30



Maintaining West London’s position as an innovation leader

• West London has received substantial government investment into innovation projects over recent years, which in 
turn leverages private investment.

• But there is a risk that government attention re-focuses outside of London, missing the potential of investment in 
innovation here to generate considerable benefits in the UK more widely.

• By improving our understanding of how recent government innovation investments have generated wider benefits 
we can strengthen our case for ongoing investment and develop a specific proposition, including:

• Government focus on West London’s growth sectors e.g. clean tech, life sciences, digital, film and screen. 

• Ongoing support through government innovation funding, recognising the contribution our world leading 

universities and innovation hubs play in supporting employment and economic growth across the UK.

• The following slides present a snapshot of government innovation investments and case studies exemplifying 
regional impacts beyond West London.

P
age 31



Innovation Projects started since 2017 
across the 7 West London boroughs

• 436 innovation projects, with local 
organisations acting as lead partner in 254 
(58%)

• £101.9m investment, including £71.6m 
innovation grants; £30.2m private match

• 88 Industrial Strategy Challenge Fund (ISCF) 
investments, with WLA organisations leading 29

• ISCF investment totals £29.3m, including 
£19.1m innovation grant and £10.2m private 
match 

P
age 32



Innovation Investments - WLA Totals by year

Year number Value

2017 57 £21.2m

2018 83 £22.2m

2019 73 £15.5m

2020 63 £13.9m

2021 160* £29.1m

ALL 436 £101.9m

Investment Totals by year across the 7 WLA Boroughs

*2021 total includes 101 Covid-19 related projects

P
age 33



Borough level totals for innovation 
investment since 2017

Innovation Investments - WLA borough Totals

Borough number Value

Barnet 58 £9.7m

Brent 25 £5.6m

Ealing 66 £11.9m

Hammersmith & Fulham 104 £33.5m

Harrow 23 £4.2m

Hillingdon 128 £26.9m

Hounslow 32 £10.0m

ALL 436 £101.9m

• Hammersmith & Fulham, and Hillingdon are able to 
absorb and direct higher levels of Innovation 
funding – related to specific local assets and 
institutions.  

• Together these two boroughs account for 54% of 
total projects and 59% of total funding since 2017.P

age 34



WLA Locations leading and co-ordinating 
Industrial Strategy Challenge Fund Initiatives

• Local lead partners co-ordinating £14.8m in direct 
ISCF funding

• 29 projects in total; including -

• 21 collaborative research and development projects

• 1 Bilateral research project

• 7 feasibility Studies 

• With impacts beyond the area from linked regional 
investments

P
age 35



National-level impacts from 2 WLA partner-
led projects based at Heathrow:

*Rolls-Royce 
Aviation - Derby

*BAE 
Systems -
IoW

Cranfield 
University –
Bed’shire

Inverness Airport –
Highlands & Islands

• Heathrow Airport leads Project NAPKIN – aiming to 
electrify (and decarbonise) UK aviation - and Fly2Plan, 

• £1.51m investment at Heathrow

• 21 external partner organisations

• £7.32m total project investment

• Impacting into 3 regions, and Scotland

• Including 2 major FTSE-100 UK manufacturers*

Heathrow 
Airport

P
age 36



Wider Impacts from Future 
Flight Strand 1 projects

• 40 projects, primarily focussed on UAV’s (drone 
technology)

• £6.37m innovation funding

• Including HyStRIAA 2.0 based at White City –
creating additional viability and range for 
electric flight compared to ‘battery only’ 
systems 

P
age 37



Wider Impacts from Future Flight Strand 2 
Projects

• 105 projects

• £36.9m total investment

• Contributes to ‘Jet Zero’ agendas

• And supports eg renewable 
energy O&M for offshore wind 

P
age 38



Appendix One

Existing and emerging Innovation District clusters

P
age 39



White City 

P
age 40



Old Oak and Park Royal

P
age 41



Golden Mile / Creative Enterprise Zone

P
age 42



London West Innovation District (Heathrow)

P
age 43



 

1 
 

 

 

Summary 

This report provides the Board with an update on work with Transport for London and 
Network Rail to develop the business case for the West London Orbital and the inception of 
joint governance arrangements for the project. It notes the current situation regarding 
funding for the project from the resources secured from the Strategic Investment Pot and 
sets out likely next stages.   

 

Recommendations  
Leaders are asked to: 
 

i) NOTE progress in development of the business case for the WLO; and 
ii) NOTE the proposed arrangements for funding the project from Strategic 

Investment Pot resources held by the West London Alliance. 
 
 

1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  
 

1.1 The West London Economic Prosperity Board (WLEPB) has consistently 
identified the West London Orbital (WLO) Overground rail line as a shared 
strategic priority for West London, integral to the sub-region’s sustainable 
development. The Board has agreed that progress and next steps relating to 
the WLO should be a standing item on its agenda. The West London Alliance 

 

West London Economic Prosperity 
Board 

 

11 October 2021 

Title  West London Orbital (Standing Item) 

Report of Niall Bolger, LB Hounslow 

Status Public 

Urgent No 

Enclosures                          N/A 

Officer Contact Details  
Andrew Barry-Purssell, West London Planning Policy and 
Infrastructure Delivery Manager, West London Alliance, E: 
barrypurssella@ealing.gov.uk; T: 07525 388237 

Page 44

Agenda Item 5

mailto:barrypurssella@ealing.gov.uk


 

2 
 

(WLA) and West London boroughs continue to work closely with Transport for 
London (TfL) and the Greater London Authority and Network Rail to develop 
and refine the business case for the project. The WLA has secured funding to 
contribute to the costs of the work, most recently £3.6 million from the 
retained business rates-based Strategic Investment Pot. TfL’s current 
budgetary situation has made the availability of this funding essential to work 
on the project proceeding. Joint governance arrangements have been set up 
to ensure the work proceeds effectively, transparently and accountably. This 
report takes stock of progress to date, seeks comments on the direction taken 
and sets out likely next steps. 
 
 

2. DEVELOPMENT OF THE WLO BUSINESS CASE 
 

2.1 It will be recalled that the Strategic Outline Business Case for the WLO, 
published in June 2019, recommended that work on the project should move 
forward. This started in the autumn of 2019 and has focussed on feasibility 
and funding with a view to establishing whether to proceed to more detailed 
work to identify a preferred route and frequency option to take forward.  

 
2.2 As reported to the Board’s meeting in February, work by Network Rail  (NR) 

concluded that the originally proposed 8 train per hour (tph) service cannot be 
achieved without unacceptable impacts on other services unless substantial – 
and probably unaffordable – improvements to infrastructure are made. Since 
then  NR has carried out further work, looking at what could be achieved with 
some flexibility in the timing of existing services. This found that 4 tph along 
the whole route with an additional 2tph between Hendon/West Hampstead 
and Old Oak Common Lane is possible.  

 
2.3 Work has also started on engineering design to identify the additional 

infrastructure and other work that might be required at key locations along the 
WLO route. The work is being carried out by Atkins and at time of writing this 
was about halfway complete. The boroughs concerned are being kept 
informed of progress and any issues identified are being raised with the 
consultants. This work is due to complete in November.  

 
2.4 Work is also continuing on project funding.  Building on the work reported in 

February by Grant Thornton and Mott Macdonald on potential funding 
sources, further work is being commissioned on the scope for use of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy and planning obligations. This is intended to 
identify the scope for raising funding from these sources having regard to 
potential impacts on development viability and on other policy priorities. It will 
also examine in more detail the role the WLO could play in accelerating 
housing delivery.  

 
2.5 This stage of work is likely to conclude in December. At that stage the 

decision will be taken by TfL and the POG on whether to proceed to more 
detailed work on a preferred single option. So far, no “showstoppers” have 
been identified. 

 

Page 45



 

3 
 

2.6 TfL and the WLA are working closely with West London boroughs to support 
this work. We are maintaining a comprehensive overview of development 
along the route to help ensure we are well placed to secure funding from 
future developments if appropriate, as well as improving the confidence of 
homes unlocked forecasts for future funding bids. There are quarterly 
meetings with boroughs along the WLO route to ensure they are kept 
informed of progress. We have also provided information and comments to 
support work on the Old Oak/Park Royal Development Corporation Local Plan 
and Brent’s Neasden Stations Growth Area Masterplan. 

 
2.7 Work is almost complete on preparation of a “Strategic Narrative” document 

that will give an overview of the benefits of the WLO in delivering national, 
regional and local priorities in a clear and effective way. This is planned to be 
published shortly.  

 
3. GOVERNANCE 
 
3.1 The February meeting approved the arrangements for joint governance of the 

project. At their centre is a joint Project Oversight Group (POG) that includes 

representatives of: 

 Transport for London 

 West London boroughs and the WLA 

 The Old Oak/Park Royal Development Corporation 

 The Greater London Authority 

 Network Rail 

Since the meeting, Homes England – who will administer the National Home 

Building Fund – have agreed to be represented on the POG. 

3.2 The West London borough representatives are Niall Bolger (Chief Executive 

of LB Hounslow and WLO project sponsor), Ross Brown (Borough Treasurer, 

LB Ealing), (Alan Lunt (Strategic Director of Regeneration and Environment, 

LB Brent), Cath Shaw (Assistant Chief Executive, LB Barnet). The WLA is 

represented by David Francis (Director) and Andrew Barry-Purssell (Planning 

and Infrastructure Manager). The POG will be jointly chaired by Alex Williams, 

TfL’s Director of City Planning, and Niall Bolger as WLA project sponsor. 

3.3 The POG had its first meeting on 1 July. It approved terms of reference and 

working practices and the basis of a memorandum of understanding between 

TfL and the WLA for administering and monitoring funding from the Strategic 

Investment Pot. This memorandum of understanding reflects the principles 

approved by the Board in February and is currently being formally settled. 

3.4 The meeting also agreed updated strategic objectives for the WLO project, 

giving greater emphasis to social and environmental issues. The revised 

objectives are attached at appendix one; they include highlighting the 

contribution the WLO could make to addressing the climate emergency – it is 

Page 46



 

4 
 

estimated that a notional trip between Hendon and Hounslow by car could 

involve more than triple the carbon emissions of a similar journey using the 

WLO. 

3.5 The POG will meet as business requires, but no less than six monthly. Urgent 

business between meetings will be dealt with by email. The next meeting will 

be held later in the autumn to review the outcome of the work set out in 

section 2 of this report and to inform the decision whether to proceed to the 

next stage of work. 

4. FUNDING THE PROJECT 
 
4.1 It will be recalled that at the Board’s February meeting approval was given for 

use of the first tranche of SIP funding (£900,000) to ensure the critical next 
stage of work on the project could go ahead and to ensure continuity while TfL 
agreed future funding arrangements with Government. Of this it was agreed 
that up to £350,000 should be allocated to fund the current tranche of work on 
service levels and engineering design. The current work is likely to come 
within this estimate, although it is possible that the additional funding work 
mentioned in paragraph 2.5 of this report – which is currently being procured -  
may require relatively modest further funding above this level – an update will 
be given at the meeting. For the future, it is proposed that decisions on any 
variation required between meetings of the Board be delegated to the West 
London representatives on the POG and are reported to the next EPB 
meeting.  

 
4.2 Consideration is being given to how the next stages of work will be funded 

and there will be further reports to the Board as the scope and scale of this 
work is specified.  

 
5. PROMOTING THE CASE FOR THE WLO 
 
5.1 Among the issues discussed by the POG was ways of building support for the 

WLO, particularly against the background of TfL’s challenging financial 
situation and the Government’s “levelling up” agenda. Some steps have been 
taken already; the preparation of a “strategic narrative” intended to explain the 
WLO and the benefits it will bring in an accessible format has already been 
mentioned and a virtual “tour” of the route for potential investors interested in 
the development opportunities the WLO might support was held in May (the 
“tour” can be viewed at https://gowiththewlo.co.uk/.  

 
5.2 Proposals are being developed for a roundtable event for key stakeholders in 

key sectors in West London and beyond to explain the benefits of the WLO 
and build support as the project is worked up – particularly to help make the 
case for funding support. We are also looking at opportunities to promote the 
project more widely in the new year, as decisions on the next stage of work 
are taken. 

 
6. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  

Page 47

https://gowiththewlo.co.uk/


 

5 
 

 
6.1 Projections of the London population and economy into the 2030s and 2040s 

suggest transport infrastructure is likely to become an increasing constraint on 
growth. There are already issues of poor orbital connectivity and congestion 
across West London; over time these will reduce the scale of growth possible 
on a sustainable basis and undermine the sub-region’s competitiveness, 
social outcomes and quality of life. So far, the impacts of the Pandemic are 
not expected to make a significant difference to this. 
 

6.2 West London also faces environmental and social challenges. It has high 
levels of car usage and the problems of greenhouse gas emissions and air 
quality associated with this. There are places with high levels of 
unemployment and deprivation that are poorly linked by public transport with 
areas likely to see jobs growth.   
 

6.3 The recommendations in this report are part of a strategic approach to 
addressing all these issues, including by providing a much-needed item of 
transport infrastructure connecting places where existing and new 
communities will live and work. They are intended to ensure delivery of the 
WLO project in a transparent, cost-effective manner. 

 
5.3 The impact of the pandemic on Transport for London’s finances mean that 

without funding from the WLA, the WLO would not proceed at present. The 
recommendations in this report address this situation. The report also 
explains the robust governance arrangements that have been put in place to 
ensure accountability and that best value is being achieved in the use of 
public resources. 
 
 

7. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 
 
7.1 The work done to prepare the business case for the WLO has examined all 

the alternative options for making orbital journeys across West and north-west 
London that might deliver the strategic objectives of enabling new homes and 
jobs; improving orbital transport connectivity; and enhancing public transport 
capacity in West London to tackle congestion and ensure resilience as the 
population grows. Going forward it is also being assessed against the new 
environmental and social objective referred to in paragraph 3.4.  The WLO 
proposal reflects the outcome of that analysis.  

 
7.2 As far as the funding proposals in this report are concerned, the resources 

involved from the SIP were granted to support development of the WLO and 

cannot be used for any other purpose. Not providing the level of funding 

proposed at this stage would be likely to result in the project being postponed 

or possibly cancelled. 

 

Page 48



 

6 
 

8. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 
 

8.1 WLA staff will continue to work with their TfL counterparts to ensure 
successful completion of the current stage of work and to build support for the 
WLO. A memorandum of understanding with TfL governing the SIP funding is 
being drawn up will be concluded to reflect the Board’s decision. 
 

9. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION  
 

9.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance 
 
The West London Alliance’s Growth Strategy “Winning in the New Economy” 
Vision for Growth identifies enabling the delivery of transport infrastructure, 
including the West London Orbital, to unlock development potential as a 
priority. 
 

9.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, 
Property, Sustainability) 
 

Delivery of the WLO will require significant resourcing should it progress. This 
will be sought from a variety of sources. As this report explains, work is under 
way to identify these, and the steps required to realise them.  
 

9.3 Social Value  
 
 The proposals set out in this report support improved health and wellbeing 

outcomes for West London’s people; the enhanced competitiveness and 
success of its businesses; and addressing key environmental and social 
objectives including tackling climate change and poor air quality and 
improving access to a wider range of employment and other opportunities for 
deprived communities  by providing greater connectivity and cutting 
congestion.  
 

9.4 Legal and Constitutional References 
 

This work falls within the following sections of the WLEPB’s Functions and 
Procedure Rules:  
 

 Representing the participating local authorities in discussions and 
negotiations with regional bodies, national bodies and central 
government on matters relating to economic prosperity for the benefit of 
the local government areas of the participating authorities.  

 Representing the participating authorities in connection with the Greater 
London Authority, London Councils and the London Enterprise Panel, for 
the benefit of the local government areas of the participating authorities, 
in matters relating to the economic prosperity agenda. 

 Representing the participating local authorities in discussions and 
negotiations in relation to pan-London matters relating to economic 
prosperity.  

Page 49



 

7 
 

 
The Joint Committee’s role and purpose on behalf of the Participating 
Boroughs relates to ensuring appropriate, effective and formal governance is 
in place for the purposes of delivering the West London Growth Strategy and 
advancing Participating Boroughs’ aspirations for greater economic prosperity 
in West London, including promoting “the Economic Prosperity Agenda”, in 
partnership with employers, representatives from regional and central 
government, and education and skills providers.  
 

The purpose of the Joint Committee will be collaboration and mutual 
cooperation and the fact that some functions will be discharged jointly by way 
of the Joint Committee does not prohibit any of the Participating Boroughs 
from promoting economic wellbeing in their own areas independently from the 
Joint Committee. The Joint Committee is not a self-standing legal entity but is 
part of its constituent authorities. Any legal commitment entered into pursuant 
to a decision of the Joint Committee must be made by all of the Participating 
Boroughs. 
 

 
9.5 Risk Management 

 
The governance arrangements that have been put in place for the WLO are 
intended to help manage the risks involved in the WLA and its constituent 
boroughs jointly promoting the WLO and providing funding towards the cost of 
this work. 
 

9.6 Equalities and Diversity  
 

Equality and diversity issues are actively being considered in the work 
outlined in this report. The contract for the engineering design work being 
undertaken by Atkins requires input from a qualified access consultant to 
provide advice on accessibility requirements and inclusive design in the 
development of station options. If delivered, the WLO would connect many of 
the sub-region’s most deprived communities with employment opportunities 
and growth areas. This will enable them to access job and other opportunities 
at a lower cost and more quickly than would be possible by other forms of 
public transport of the private car. There is a high-level Equalities Impact 
Assessment for the project, reflecting the stage which it has reached. More 
detailed assessments would be carried out as the project proceeds to formal 
approval.  
 

9.7 Consultation and Engagement 
 
This work does not currently involve public consultation, although it is likely to 
be something that will take place in the next stages of business case 
development. All West London boroughs, the GLA, TfL and the Old Oak/Park 
Royal Mayoral Development Corporation and representatives of local 
businesses have been engaged with development of the project to date. As 
the project moves towards the point at which public consultation will be 

Page 50



 

8 
 

required a full community engagement and consultation plan will be 
developed by TfL and the boroughs.   
 

 

 

 

APPENDIX ONE 

West London Orbital Strategic Objectives (as amended at Project Oversight 

Group 1 July 2021) 

 

(a) Orbital transport connectivity  

Enhance orbital public transport connectivity to and between major trip attractors in 

west and north west London (e.g. town centres and Opportunity Areas at Old 

Oak/Park Royal, Burnt Oak/Colindale, Brent Cross/Cricklewood and the Great West 

Corridor) to support mode shift towards active, efficient and sustainable modes of 

transport, and west and north west London’s continued economic growth and 

competitiveness  

 

(b) New homes and jobs  

Enable and optimise the delivery of new homes and jobs in west and north west 

London in line with the principles of ‘Good Growth’  

 

(c) Public transport capacity  

Enhance public transport capacity in west and north west London to relieve pressure 

on existing corridors and ensure the resilience and future sustainability of the public 

transport network as population and the economy grows  

 

(d) Wider economic, environmental and social benefits  

Reduce social, economic and spatial inequalities and widen access to good jobs, 

town centres and local amenities, enhance local environmental quality and help 

tackle the causes and consequences of climate change 

 

 

Page 51



 

 

Summary 

This report provides brief updates not covered elsewhere on the agenda on progress on 
the various elements of the West London Alliance’s Economy & Skills Programme in line 
with the themes set out in the annual business plan, covering:  
 

 Good employment and the right skills 

 Infrastructure – West London Orbital and mobility 

 Infrastructure - Tomorrow’s digital economy  

 

Recommendations  

Leaders are asked to: 

 Note the updates provided on the West London Alliance’s Economy & Skills 
Programme. 

 

 
  

 

West London Economic Prosperity 
Board 

 

11 October 2021 

Title  

 
WLA Economy & Skills programme 
updates 
 

Report of 
 
David Francis – Director, West London Alliance  
 

Status Public 

Sponsor 
Cllr Stephen Cowan, Leader, LB Hammersmith & Fulham and 
Chair, West London Economic Prosperity Board 

Urgent No 

Enclosures                          N/A 

Officer Contact Details  

 
David Pack, Head of Economy & Skills, West London Alliance 
(packd@ealing.gov.uk) 
 

Page 52

Agenda Item 6

mailto:packd@ealing.gov.uk


1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  
 

1.1 This report updates the Board on progress across the various strands of the 
West London Alliance’s Economy & Skills Programme where not picked up 
elsewhere on today’s agenda.  Both the Build & Recover Plan and the West 
London Orbital are the subject of substantive agenda items so are not 
covered in any detail in this report. 

 
2. EMPLOYMENT AND THE RIGHT SKILLS 
 
2.1 The core Work & Health Programme, which provides employment support 

to sick and disabled people, those at a disadvantage in the workplace or 
unemployed for more than 2 years, can continue to take referrals until October 
22. Delivered on the West London boroughs' behalf by The Shaw Trust, this is 
high quality employment support provision with 5,000 places still available.  
We expect a decision on whether we will receive funding to extend the 
contract in the Spending Review in the autumn. Since 2018 over 4,000 people 
have got jobs through WHP and other programmes commissioned by WLA. 
Many of these faced considerable barriers to finding work. 
 

2.2 As mentioned in the separate paper on economic recovery the Job Entry: 
Targeted Support (JETS) programme, also delivered by Shaw Trust, 
provides employment support to people unemployed and claiming benefit for 
more than 3 months. The first year of the contract comes to an end this month 
but DWP have provided additional funding to extend the contract to 
September next year. In line with our procurement last year, we are expecting 
to double the places available by matching the funding with ESF, making a 
total of 18,000 places available over the two years. 
 

2.3 Alongside London’s other sub-regional partnerships and London Council we 
have also been involved in informing the specification for the contract for 
DWP’s Restart programme, to be delivered in West and Central London by 
Ingeus. This will provide employment support to be people who have been 
unemployed for 1 year or more. We understand there are around 70,000 
places available to West London residents over the course of the contract. 
 

2.4 Our work on employment support has been recognised by the MJ Awards. 
We won the Transforming Lives Award for the Individual Placement and 
Support (IPS) project, with our delivery partners WDP. The IPS project is 
provide dedicated and intensive employment support, targeted at the 15,000 
people using drug and alcohol dependency services across West London. We 
were also highly commended in the Inclusion and Diversity award category for 
work to recruit 1,400 West London residents from diverse backgrounds into 
roles at NHS mass vaccination centres. 
 

2.5 To develop and expand our online tool to improve understanding of how 
skills provision responds to need, we have worked with West London 
Business to commission the Open Data Institute to map the West London 
skills data ecosystem to shape a potential open data standard for West 
London and further automate the tool. 

Page 53



 

2.6 To inform delivery of future adult skills provision we co-ordinated a West 
London response to the GLA’s Adult Education Roadmap, which will set the 
direction for the Mayor’s £300m+ p.a. devolved Adult Education Budget for 
the remainder of this Mayoral term.  
 

2.7 We have continued work with the group of Vice-Chancellors of West 
London’s higher education institutions and Principals of further 
education colleges to convene curriculum leads across four key sectors for 
the sub-region (health, the green economy, digital and creative cultural), in 
part to inform bids for the Mayor’s Sectoral Academies programme, but also to 
develop stronger sector-focused progression routes. 

 

3. INFRASTRUCTURE 1 – WEST LONDON ORBITAL AND MOBILITY 
 
3.1 A detailed update on the West London Orbital is covered in a separate 

paper on today’s agenda. 
 

3.2 Although impacted by reduced funding through Transport for London, our 
WestTrans team has focused efforts on a number of sub-regional transport-
related workstreams, including: 
 

 Work to assess the impact of a pilot cycling promotion scheme with 
NHS Trusts, which has had to wind up owing to lack of funding. 

 Delivery of Travel Plan monitoring related to developments across West 
London, with the expectation of providing 60 reports by January 2022 

 Supporting borough colleagues with data regarding demand for electric 
vehicles to inform planning for charging infrastructure. 

 Developing ideas with the Heathrow Strategic Planning Group, West 
London Business and Brunel University to improve the efficiency and 
impact of freight movements in the Heathrow area. 

 Commencing an active travel and connectivity review of the boundary 
areas the boroughs share in partnership with borough colleagues and TfL.  

 
4. INFRASTRUCTURE 2 – TOMORROW’S DIGITAL ECONOMY 
 
4.1 Additional funding of £2m for digital connectivity has been secured 

through government’s ‘Get Britain Building Fund’ channelled via TfL to fund 
new fibre connections to public buildings. Combined with existing external 
funding from the Strategic Investment Pot, this will support delivery of new 
gigabit fibre installations infrastructure works and services over the next two 
years. 
 

4.2 Following consultation with and with close involvement of your borough leads, 
we have commenced the ‘Expanding Opportunities for All’ programme to 
accelerate improvements to connectivity across the sub-region and ensure 
that all residents and businesses benefit from West London being truly super 
connected. 
 

Page 54



 
5. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
6.1 This report is for information only, to keep this Board informed of progress 

across the West London Alliance’s Economy & Skills programme of work.  
 

6. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 
 
N/A 
 

7. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 
 

N/A 

 
8. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION  

 
8.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance 

 
 This report relates directly to the 2021/22 West London Alliance Business 

Plan as agreed by Chief Executives in March 2021.   
 

8.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, 
Property, Sustainability) 
 

 N/A 
 

8.3 Social Value  
 

 Social and economic inclusion is a cross-cutting theme woven into the various 
elements of the programme outlined.  
 

8.4 Legal and Constitutional References 
 

 This work falls within the following sections of the WLEPB’s Functions and 
Procedure Rules:  
 

 Representing the participating local authorities in discussions and 
negotiations with regional bodies, national bodies and central 
government on matters relating to economic prosperity for the benefit of 
the local government areas of the participating authorities.  

 Representing the participating authorities in connection with the Greater 
London Authority, London Councils and the London Enterprise Panel, for 
the benefit of the local government areas of the participating authorities, 
in matters relating to the economic prosperity agenda. 

 Representing the participating local authorities in discussions and 
negotiations in relation to pan-London matters relating to economic 
prosperity.  
 

Page 55



 The Joint Committee’s role and purpose on behalf of the Participating 
Boroughs relates to ensuring appropriate, effective and formal governance is 
in place for the purposes of delivering the West London Vision for Growth and 
advancing Participating Boroughs’ aspirations for greater economic prosperity 
in West London, including promoting “the Economic Prosperity Agenda”, in 
partnership with employers, representatives from regional and central 
government, and education and skills providers.  
 

 The purpose of the Joint Committee will be collaboration and mutual co-
operation and the fact that some functions will be discharged jointly by way of 
the Joint Committee does not prohibit any of the Participating Boroughs from 
promoting economic wellbeing in their own areas independently from the Joint 
Committee. The Joint Committee is not a self-standing legal entity but is part 
of its constituent authorities. Any legal commitment entered into pursuant of a 
decision of the Joint Committee must be made by all of the Participating 
Boroughs. 

 
8.5 Risk Management 

 
 N/A 

 
8.6 Equalities and Diversity  

 
 The ongoing focus of addressing economic recovery at the sub-regional level 

through the Build and Recover Plan will assist in promoting equalities and 
diversity across the sub-region. The plan has a central focus on ensuring that 
West London’s economic recovery is inclusive, benefiting those most 
impacted by the economic impact of the pandemic.  
 

8.7 Consultation and Engagement 
 

 Regular updates on the various elements of the Economy & Skills programme 
are provided to both Chief Executives and your Economy & Skills Directors 
among other officers.  

 
9. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
N/A 

Page 56



 

 

 

Summary 

This report provides a draft agenda forward plan for this Board’s next three meetings, 
covering the period from January to July 2022 in line with the remainder of the current 
chair’s term.  

 

Recommendations  

 
Leaders are asked to: 
 

 Note and comment on the draft agenda forward plan. 
 

  

 

West London Economic Prosperity 
Board 

 

11 October 2021 

Title  

 
Draft agenda forward plan – January 2022 
– July 2022 
 

Report of 
 
David Francis – Director, West London Alliance  
 

Status Public 

Sponsor 
Cllr Stephen Cowan, Leader, LB Hammersmith & Fulham and 
Chair, West London Economic Prosperity Board 

Urgent No 

Enclosures                          N/A 

Officer Contact Details  

 
David Pack, Head of Economy & Skills, West London Alliance 
(packd@ealing.gov.uk) 
 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7

mailto:packd@ealing.gov.uk


 

 

West London Economic Prosperity Board (WLEPB) draft agenda forward plan 

January – July 20221 

Summary of WLA workstreams to be covered (in line with terms of reference): 

- Oversight of work to facilitate West London’s economic recovery through the 

Build & Recover plan including linkages with the activity of the Economic 

Recovery Taskforce, wider engagement with business leaders. 

- Oversight of the following thematic areas of WLA work (including their role in 

supporting economic recovery): 

o Skills and employment   

 Devolved employment support work;  

 All other work considered by WL Skills & Employment Board 

o Growth sectors and innovation 

 West London Innovation District concept 

o Infrastructure and West London Orbital 

 West London Orbital 

 Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

 One Public Estate  

o Digital connectivity work (fibre, 5G, digital inclusion) 

o Economic aspects of work to facilitate a green recovery 

WLEPB agenda and papers to be shaped/informed by the WLA Economy & 

Skills Directors and WLA Chief Executives, with final agreement resting with 

the EPB Chair. 

Proposed standing items: 

Item Suggested frequency 

External speakers As agreed with Chair 

West London Orbital progress Each meeting  

Economic Recovery (to include the 
Build & Recover plan, London-level 
economic recovery approach, WL 
Economic Recovery Taskforce) 

Each meeting 

Annual report from WL Skills & 
Employment Board  

Annually 

WLA programmes update (to include 
areas above) 

Each meeting (for info or decision as 
necessary) 

Forward plan agreement Each meeting 

 

  

                                                           
1
 An early July 2022 meeting would be the end of the current chair’s tenure. 

Page 58



 

 

Proposed areas of focus of meetings – January - July 2022 

 

January 2022 

 External speaker - TBC  

 Economic recovery 

o Build & Recover Plan – update on progress, noting any emerging 

next steps, consideration of any revisions. 

o Economic Recovery Taskforce – progress update (potentially to 

include external speaker(s) from corporate leaders’ group on one or 

more themes of work…) 

 West London Orbital – standing item. 

 WLA programme update: 

o Annual report of Skills & Employment Board – to note work 

undertaken and priorities emerging 

o Green recovery – update from West London Environment Directors on 

progress in delivering economic elements of expanded work 

programme and agreement of next steps.   

o Review of sub-regional inward investment support requirements – 

for discussion / input.  

 Forward plan 

 

April 2022 

 Economic recovery 

o Build & Recover Plan – update on progress, noting any emerging 

next steps 

o WL Economic Recovery Taskforce – progress update (potentially to 

include external speaker(s) from corporate leaders’ group on one or 

more themes of work…) 

 Anchor institutions – to note work underway with a) universities b) NW 

London Integrated Care System (potentially to include external speakers from 

each)  

 WLA programme update: 

o Employment support and skills update – to include progress on 

devolved employment support programmes and update on skills work. 

 West London Orbital – standing item. 

 Forward plan 

 

July 2022 

 Economic recovery 

o Build & Recover Plan – update on progress, noting any emerging 

next steps 

Page 59



 

 

o WL Economic Recovery Taskforce – progress update  (potentially to 

include external speaker(s) from corporate leaders’ group on one or 

more themes of work…) 

 West London Orbital – standing item. 

 WLA Programme update 

o Digital programme – noting of progress in delivering programme and 

next steps. 

o Green recovery – update from WL Environment Directors on progress 

in delivering economic elements of expanded work programme and 

next steps.   

o Sub-regional inward investment – update on next steps following 

review 

 Forward plan 

 

 

Page 60


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	3 West London Economic Recovery - Update on Build & Recover plan delivery and associated work
	4 West London Innovation District Concept
	West London Innovation District - Annex 1

	5 West London Orbital (standing item)
	6 WLA Economy & Skills Programme Updates
	7 Forward Plan

